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Lorne House holds important
place in history of Manx life

O ccupying a ‘po-
sition of singu-
lar beauty, well 
sheltered from 
north and east 

winds and commanding mag-
nificent and extensive land, 
mountain and sea views’ on a 
promontory between the Sil-
verburn River and Castletown 
Bay is one of the island’s best 
houses. 

Named after a district 
of Scotland, Lorne House  – 
originally Lorn – described 
in contemporary accounts 
as ‘this magnificent building 
lately erected’, emerged from 
its predecessor in Castletown 
by 1828.  

The original house was 
built in around 1786, probably 
to the design of George Steuart, 
who had been brought to the 
island by the Duke of Atholl. 

It had three adjoining 
rectangular blocks forming 
a square with a porch on the 
eastern frontage and a semi-
circular bay on the south. 
Steuart designed a similar bay 
for the Villa Marina, the build-
ing on the Douglas seashore – 
and later on Harris Promenade 
– demolished in 1912 to make 
way for the current complex of 
the same name.

A fourth block was added 
to Lorne House to enable 
construction of a magnifi-
cent staircase and various 
extensions. Robert Cunning-
hame, its owner, was former 
Attorney General and a House 
of Keys member who had in-
herited the property from his 
father, Lieutenant Colonel 
William Cunninghame, for-
merly of the 58th Regiment 
of Foot, who also owned Bal-
lanorris. William, who died in 
1825, had married Christian 
Taubman in the early 1790s, 
the Taubman family having 
previously owned the site. 
Their son Robert celebrated 
the building’s new look in Feb-
ruary 1828 with an assembly. 

We are told: ‘Great taste 
was displayed in the decora-
tion of his elegantly colon-
naded hall: the staircase was 
peculiarly striking, from the 
singular and beautiful effects 
produced by the neatly en-
twined wreaths of evergreens 
which encircled the light 
fluted columns of this princely 
mansion.’ 

Robert only enjoyed his 

creation for four years before 
dying suddenly in 1832, leav-
ing his widow Margaret, nee 
McDougall, and four children, 
including an heir, Patrick 
Taubman Cunninghame, who 
was still a young child. Both 
Margaret and Robert’s mother 
Christian died two years later, 
and with the heir Patrick, born 
in 1827, being only seven years 
old, this meant Lorne House’s 
role was about to change. 

The Governor’s accommo-
dation in Derby House in Cas-
tle Rushen had largely been 
converted into a courthouse, 
but not far away – sitting domi-
nant above other properties 
east of the Silverburn (apart 
from Quayles’ Bridge House, 
which, following a contre-
temps, they had heightened 
to block the Cunninghames’ 
seaward view) and standing 
empty from 1834 – was Lorne 

House. It was decided this 
would admirably fulfil the 
need for a suitably elegant and 
dignified property to become 
the home of then Lieutenant 
Governor, John Ready. 

A 13-year lease was taken 
out and was then renewed 
until 1860 for Lieutenant Gov-
ernor Charles Hope. Cunning-
hame’s grandchild, however, 
having come of age, then de-
clined to renew the lease as he 
wanted Lorne House for him-
self, so Hope became ‘home-
less’. That was the beginning of 
the end for Castletown as capi-
tal of the Isle of Man – Castle 
Mona in Douglas was intially 
leased by the Lieutenant Gov-
ernor instead before Bemah-
ague became the permanent 
home for successive holders 
of the post. Tynwald then fol-
lowed, moving away from the 
old House of Keys in Castle-

town to Douglas. 
Cunninghame descend-

ants eventually sold out to 
philanthropist Henry Bloom 
Noble in 1893, but none of his 
usual goodwill towards the 
property is recorded: follow-
ing his death in 1903 for £100, 
trustees conveyed ‘that man-
sion house, gardens, grounds, 
lodge, stables, field and prem-
ises, including a parcel of land 
formerly waste land… and 
now part of Lorn House, and 
also including Lorn House 
and whole of lands houses and 
premises lying between the 
Victoria Road Douglas Road 
and the road leading past the 
Bowling Green Stables to the 
Victoria Road’ to General Ste-
venson, who had leased the 
property for some time. 

Stevenson built the arch-
way at the head of the drive in 
1902 and planted an avenue of 

trees to commemorate the end 
of the Boer War. A ‘fosse’ was 
created on three sides of the 
house and relocation of the 
porch allowed light into the 
basement, and by then – when 
the house had also acquired 
the ‘e’ on the end of Lorne – its 
curtilage was clearly defined.

Described in 1892 as ex-
tensive pleasure grounds, the 

sloping lawn at the side of the 
house was used for croquet 
and its surroundings were 
clearly seen as an important 
asset of the whole property. 
In 1907 a fancy fair was held 
with stalls under the trees, 
including one held by the then 
Lieutenant Governor’s wife,  
Lady Raglan, with pierrots in a 
large tent some distance from 

An early 19th century drawing of Lorne House in Castletown before the bay extension was added

 An aerial view of the promontory area between the Silverburn and 
Castletown Bay on which Lorne House stands, with its grounds and 
curtilage clearly visible. Picture: Google
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 A view across Castletown harbour to Lorne House 
when it was serving as Government House between 
1834 and 1860  Picture: Manx National Heritage

the house, and numerous side 
shows.  

But then in 1921 The Home-
finder magazine carried the 
following: ‘For sale: Castle-
town Lorne House with im-
mediate possession. Mansion 
House called “Lorn House” 
with paddock, flower and 
kitchen gardens . . . gardener’s 
cottage, coach or motor house, 
stabling, out-offices, green 
house, vinery’.

In 1931 Lorne House was 
acquired by Christian Endeav-
our Holiday Homes. Opening 
from the week before Whitsun 
until the middle of September, 
by 1972 it accommodated 100 
people in the house, converted 
garage and lodge. 

During the Second World 
War it was occupied by the 
Manx Children’s Home dis-
placed from Glencrutchery 
Road by the Royal Navy. 

The house had all the ac-
coutrements in its make-up 
and its surrounding buildings 
and grounds to be as self-suffi-
cient as possible. 

By the 1970s, to raise mon-
ey for its upkeep, planning 
consent was sought to develop 

the grounds, but following re-
fusal, the property was sold to 
Mannin Industries. 

Permission was refused for 
its conversion to a hotel but 
was given for offices.  

By 1994 its walled kitchen 
garden was being used to nur-
ture a flock of Loaghtan sheep, 
and the stables, coach house, 
piggeries, chicken houses, 
cowshed and [remains of an] 
icehouse, described in Patricia 
Tutt’s book on the estate as ‘a 
form of flying freehold’, still 
existed. 

The sandy ridge of Lorne 
House Hill – by repute an early 
Tynwald and gallows site – has 
another name,  ‘Howyngren’ 
– ‘hill of the sun’ – with the 
name of the nearby Bowling 
Green house, of which there 
is now no sign, being a cor-
ruption of ‘Boayl yn Ghrian’ 
– ‘place of the sun’. In 1898 
antiquarians here saw slight 
traces of earthworks, possibly 
of a promontory fort on this 
prominent site. 

There is no definitive 
evidence of the ‘Chapel and 
Burial ground’ marked on the 
1868 OS map to be found. The 

chapel’s stones had been re-
used in the construction of the 
barn and the well once associ-
ated with a keeill was under 
an arch to the rear of the farm 
buildings. Another in the cen-
tre of the rose garden in front 
of the house was filled in and 
covered by a sundial. 

In short, Lorne House’s 
grounds, including the field 
to the north surrounded by a 
substantial wall enclosing its 
historic seven and a half acres, 
have always formed part of its 
heritage.

Leighton Stowell, describ-
ing this field in 1975, stated: 
‘It would be a thousand pities 
if this historic site were used 
for the erection of ugly houses 
we see growing up around us 
in a night, and we Castletown 
folk trust we will always have 
Gallows Meadow as one green 
spot at least in the ancient 
capital of Mann, which means 
so much to us all.’

In more recent times Lorne 
House has been converted 
back to a single residence, but 
the current owner now wants 
to develop housing in the cur-
tilage.

Registration?

The building’s architects

L orne House to-
gether with its 
grounds are 
clearly a key site in 
Castletown.

In March 2012 the Planning 
Division recognised the im-
portance of the building and 
its setting. 

Powers under the Town 
& Country Planning Act 1999 
enabled it to draw up the The 
Protected Buildings Register. 

In considering whether to 
enter a building in the register 
the department may take into 
account not only the building 
itself ‘but also any respect in 
which its exterior contributes 
to the architectural or historic 
interest of any group of build-
ings of which it forms part and 
the desirability of preserving, 
on the ground its architec-
tural or historic interest, any 
feature of the building consist-
ing of a man-made object or 
structure fixed to the building 

or forming part of the land and 
comprised within the curti-
lage of the building’. 

Guidance in the UK for 
equivalent ‘listed’ building 
designation states that the 
curtilage, which may not nec-
essarily be limited in extent, 
can be defined, for the pur-
poses of ‘listing’, as an area of 
land around a listed building 
within which other buildings 
pre-dating July 1948 may po-
tentially be considered listed. 

Not all buildings will have 
a curtilage; with those that do, 
some will have a clear extent 
such as a garden boundary, 
while others will not. Each 
case will always be a question 
of fact and degree. 

Criteria to be assessed are 
the physical layout of the listed 
building and the ancillary 
buildings, their ownership 
past and present, and their 
use or function past and pre-
sent, specifically whether the 

building was ancillary to the 
purposes of the listed building 
at the date of listing.

In November 2015 the 
Planning Division Registered 
Lorne House and all the land 
historically within its bound-
ary wall and including remain-
ing farm buildings, its walled 
kitchen garden and the arch 
all associated with it since the 
18th century and still within 
the same ownership. 

In February 2017, despite 
the reference to curtilage in 
Manx Statute law, they dereg-
istered it. They are proposing 
to Register only the main part 
of the house, as defined by el-
evations, ie, no curtilage, and 
the archway. 

The case is ongoing. Is it 
surprising that we have lost so 
many of our historic heritage 
properties with ‘volte face’ like 
this, with few people being 
made aware of the issues or 
even the evidence?

G eorge Steuart 
came to the is-
land first from 
1765 to 1774.  In 
1778 he was ap-

pointed by Treasury to survey 
gaols and report on defensive 
and civil infrastructure. He 
returned to the island for the 
same purpose in 1789. Steuart 
and his son were patronised 
by the Duke of Atholl, who 
commissioned the Castle Mo-
na and original Villa Marina.  
Steuart  was involved in the 
design of several courthouses 
(see Examiner, February 14), 
and Ballacregga model farm 
at Port St Mary. Steuart re-
mained on the island until his 
death in 1806. 

Thomas Brine arrived on 
the island around 1810. He 
was appointed military Clerk 
of Works to the Barracks Of-
fice but resigned in 1815 when 
he was to be relocated off the 
island. Appointed Surveyor 
General of highways from 
1826-1834, he also undertook 
private commissions; several 
buildings can definitely be 
attributed to him while oth-
ers have features suggesting 
strong links to him. Charac-
teristically these include the 
technically correct cluster 
(not fluted) columns found 
at Lorne House, St Mary’s 
Church, where two of Robert 
Cuninghame’s sons are com-
memorated, and St Mary’s 

Roman Catholic Church in 
Castletown. 

Secondly, Brine’s use of 
external castellations, whose 
inspiration may have been 
the tower on St Patrick’s Isle, 
are found in his known build-
ings: Beech House, the former 
coach house serving Lorne 
House, and the House of Keys 
building in Castletown – and 
by dint of this style in build-
ings such as the belltower in 
Kentraugh Stables.  

The motto on the entrance 
to the stables: ‘Judge not your 
fellow man’s condition, until 
you be in his position’, is per-
haps apt for consideration 
with regard to Lorne House’s 
Registration.  

St Mary’s Church, Castletown Lorne House hill rising to the rear of the property

Part of walled garden and former farm buildings The Avenne arch and observation tower at Lorne House

The interior of St Mary’s Church, Castletown, also built 
by the architect Thomas Brine who remodelled Lorne 
House, showing its cluster columns as they looked in 
the 1890s  Picture: Manx National Heritage

A portrait of ‘Miss Christian Taubman, later Mrs 
Cunninghame’ - owner of the original Lorn House, wife 
of Lieut-Colonel William Cunninghame and mother of 
Robert Cunninghame - painted in London by the famous 
artist George Romney in 1781. She died at Lorne House 
on April 21, 1834. Picture courtesy of Manx National 
HeritagePart of the boundary wall


